
Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee Meeting 
Thursday, May 27, 2021 

Table of Contents 

Contents 
Agenda .................................................................................................................................... 2 
Meeting Minutes .................................................................................................................... 4 
Study Timeline ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Figure 1. Key dates in the study process. ..................................................................................................................................... 8 
Agency Snapshot .................................................................................................................... 9 
Agency Presentation #1 – Marketing the State and Project Management .......................... 10 
Agency Presentation #2 - Incentives .................................................................................... 39 
Committee Contact Information and Upcoming Meetings .................................................. 97 
End Notes ............................................................................................................................. 99 



 

AGENDA 



 

South Carolina 
House of Representatives  

 

 
 

Legislative Oversight Committee 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, TRANSPORTATION,  
AND NATURAL RESOURCES SUBCOMMITTEE 

The Honorable William M. “Bill” Hixon, Chair 
The Honorable Adam M. Morgan 

The Honorable Russell L. Ott 
The Honorable Marvin R. Pendarvis 

 
 

Thursday, May 27, 2021 
10:00 a.m. 

321 - Blatt Building  
Pursuant to Committee Rule 6.8, S.C. ETV shall be allowed access for internet streaming whenever 

technologically feasible. 
 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
  

I. Approval of Minutes  

II. Discussion of the study of the Department of Commerce 

III. Adjournment 



 

MEETING MINUTES 
 



 
 
First Vice-Chair: 
Joseph H. Jefferson, Jr. 
 
Kambrell H. Garvin 
Rosalyn D. Henderson-
Myers 
Jeffrey E. “Jeff” Johnson 
John R. McCravy, III 
Adam M. Morgan 
Melissa Lackey Oremus 
Marvin R. Pendarvis 
Tommy M. Stringer 
Chris Wooten 
 
 
 
Jennifer L. Dobson 
Research Director 
 
Cathy A. Greer 
Administration 
Coordinator 

Chair Wm. Weston J. Newton 
 

Legislative Oversight Committee 
 
 
 
 
 

South Carolina House of Representatives 
 

Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 

Telephone: (803) 212-6810 • Fax: (803) 212-
6811 

Room 228 Blatt Building 

 
 
 
 
 
Gil Gatch 
William M. “Bill” Hixon 
Kimberly O. Johnson 
Josiah Magnuson 
Timothy A. “Tim” McGinnis 
Travis A. Moore 
Russell L. Ott 
Michael F. Rivers, Sr. 
John Taliaferro (Jay) West, IV 
 
 
 
Charles L. Appleby, IV 
Legal Counsel 
 
Lewis Carter  
Research Analyst/Auditor 
 
Riley E. McCullough 
Research Analyst 
 

 
Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee  

Thursday, May 12, 2021 
8:30 a.m. 

Blatt Room 321 

Archived Video Available 

I. Pursuant to House Legislative Oversight Committee Rule 6.8, South Carolina 
ETV was allowed access for streaming the meeting. You may access an 
archived video of this meeting by visiting the South Carolina General 
Assembly’s website (http://www.scstatehouse.gov) and clicking on 
Committee Postings and Reports, then under House Standing Committees click on 
Legislative Oversight. Then, click on Video Archives for a listing of archived 
videos for the Committee. 
 

Attendance 

I. The Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources 
Subcommittee meeting was called to order by Chairman William M. (Bill) 
Hixon, on  Thursday, May 12, 2021, in Room 321 of the Blatt Building. The 
following members of the Subcommittee were present for either all or a 
portion of the meeting: Chairman Hixon, Representative Russell L. Ott; and 
Representative Marvin R. Pendarvis.  Representative Adam M. Morgan was 
absent.



 

 
Minutes 

I. House Rule 4.5 requires standing committees to prepare and make available 
to the public the minutes of committee meetings, but the minutes do not 
have to be verbatim accounts of meetings. It is the practice of the Legislative 
Oversight Committee to provide minutes for its subcommittee meetings. 

II. Representative Ott’s makes a motion to approve the meeting minutes from 
the prior Subcommittee meeting.  

Rep. Ott’ motion to approve the minutes 
from the March 11, 2021 meeting: 

Yea Nay Not Voting 
(Not present) 

Rep. Hixon    

Rep. Morgan     

Rep. Ott    

Rep. Pendarvis    

 

Discussion of the S.C. Department of Commerce 

I. Chair Hixon swears in the following individuals from the Department of 
Commerce: 

a. Ms. Alex Clark, Director of Marketing and Communications; and  
b. Mr. Nelson Lindsay, Director of Global Business Development. 

 
Also, he reminds Mr. Robert M. (Bobby) Hitt III, Secretary of Commerce and 
Mr. Christopher Huffman, Chief Financial Officer of the Department of 
Commerce that they remain under oath.  
 

II. Mr. Huffman introduces Department of Commerce staff present at the 
meeting. 

III. Mr. Lindsay presents information the agency titled, “Marketing the State and 
Project Management,” that includes information on the following topics: 

a. Why do we have to market? 
b. Marketing Tools: The S.C. Story; Website; Social Media and 

Collaterals; Economic Development Announcements; Tradeshows, 
Mission Trips and Events 

c. Internal Representation: State map showing locations of different 
international firms within the state 

d. Project Management: Sources of potential projects; Factors 
Companies are Evaluating when deciding on site locations; and start 
of site selection process 

 



 

Subcommittee members ask questions that representatives from the 
Department of Commerce answer. 

 
 
Conclusion 

I. There being no further business, the meeting is adjourned.   

 
 
 



 

 

STUDY TIMELINE 
 
The House Legislative Oversight Committee’s (Committee) process for studying the Department of 
Commerce (agency) includes actions by the full Committee; Economic Development, Transportation, and 
Natural Resources Subcommittee (Subcommittee); the agency; and the public.  Key dates and actions are 
listed below in Figure 1. 

• December 9, 2019 – Holds Meeting #1 and prioritizes the agency for study 
• January 15, 2020 - Provides the agency notice about the oversight process  
• February 28 – April 1, 2020 - Solicits input about the agency in the form of an online public survey 

 

• March 4, 2021 - Holds Meeting #2 to discuss the agency’s vision; mission; director responsibilities; 
organizational structure; history; and general information about finances and employees 

• March 11, 2021 - Holds Meeting #3 to discuss agency deliverables related to TEAMSC, LocateSC, 
Community Development Block Grant, Appalachian Regional Commission, Applied Research 
Grant Program, Rural Development, and Regional Economic Development organizations 

• May 12, 2021 - Holds Meeting #4 to discuss agency deliverables related to marketing the state 
and project management 

• May 27, 2021 - Holds Meeting #5 (TODAY) to continue discussing agency deliverables related to 
project management and discuss deliverables related to incentives 
 

• March 31, 2015 - Submits its Annual Restructuring and Seven-Year Plan Report 
• January 12, 2016 - Submits its 2016 Annual Restructuring Report 
• September 2016 - Submits its 2015-16 Accountability Report 
• September 2017 - Submits its 2016-17 Accountability Report 
• September 2018 - Submits its 2017-18 Accountability Report 
• September 2019 - Submits its 2018-19 Accountability Report 
• March 13, 2020 - Submits its Program Evaluation Report  
• September 2020 - Submits its 2019-20 Accountability Report 
• December, 2019 - Present - Responds to Subcommittee’s inquiries 

 

• February 28 – April 1, 2020 - Provides input about the agency via an online public survey 
• Ongoing - Submits written comments on the Committee's webpage on the General Assembly's 

website (www.scstatehouse.gov)\ 
 
Figure 1. Key dates in the study process. 

Economic Development, Transportation, and Natural Resources Subcommittee 
 b   

Department of Commerce 

Public’s Actions 

Legislative Oversight Committee Actions 

http://www.scstatehouse.gov)/


 

 

 

AGENCY SNAPSHOT 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2. Snapshot of the agency’s major organizational units, fiscal year 2019-20 resources (employees and funding), successes, and challenges.1 



 

 
 
 

  

AGENCY PRESENTATION #1 – MARKETING THE 
STATE AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT  

 

  



House Legislative 
Oversight Committee 

May 11, 2021

1



Marketing the State

2



3

Marketing the State Outline

• WHY DO WE HAVE TO MARKET?

• MARKETING TOOLS 
• The SC Story

• Website

• Social Media/Collaterals/Announcements

• Tradeshows/Mission Trips/Events

• INTERNATIONAL REPRESENTATION



Why do we 
have to 
market?

4



Why do we have to market?

5

• To keep South Carolina top of mind for a 
company’s decision-making process

• To promote our pro-business environment

• To build brand awareness

• To overcome geographical stereotypes



Marketing 
Tools

6



Marketing Tools:
The South 

Carolina Story
7



Marketing 
Tools:

Website
8

Sessions : number of unique visits
Pageviews : number of times individual site pages are loaded

Users : number of people visiting the site

Site Interactions
2019

Sessions: 359,155
Pageviews: 721,017
Users: 266,996
LocateSC property 
searches: 17,000

2020
Sessions: 587,415
Pageviews: 1,167,811
Users: 443,055
LocateSC property 
searches: 22,000



Marketing Tools:
Social Media & 

Collaterals
9



Marketing Tools:
Economic 

Development 
Announcements

10



Marketing Tools:
Tradeshows, 

Mission Trips & 
Events 11



12

Marketing Tools:  Tradeshows, Mission Trips & Events



International 
Representation

13



International 
Representation

14



Project Management 

15



16

Project Management Outline

• LEAD SOURCES

• SITE LOCATION DECISIONS
• Factors Companies are Evaluating

• Site Selection Process 



Lead Sources

17



18

Project Management:  Sources of Projects

20%

2%

8%

3%

10%

17%

4%

5%

2%

29%

Company Inquiry

SCDOC Missions / Trade Conferences

SCDOC - Foreign Office

SCDOC - In-house/Website and Governor's Office

Regional Alliances

 Site Consultant

Ally

Law Firm

Realtor/Broker/Contractor/Developer/Engineer

County

A Lead is when a company has expressed interest in expanding or
relocating to the Southeast but the timeframe is >18 months.
A Project is when a company has expressed interest in expanding or
relocating, will consider South Carolina, Commerce has interacted with
them at some level, and the timeframe is < 18 months.

Active Projects
March 2021



Site Location 
Decisions

19



Project Management: Site Selection Process

20

Needs assessment by company.



21

Project Management:  Factors Companies are Evaluating

* All figures are percentages and are the total of the “very important” and “important” ratings of the 
Area Development Corporate Survey (2020) and are rounded to the nearest tenth of a percent.

** 2019 ranking



Project Management: Site Selection Process

22

Needs assessment by company.

Qualifying areas/regions identified.



Project Management: Site Selection Process

23

Needs assessment by company.

Qualifying areas/regions identified.

Company makes initial contact with qualified 
states or regions. Information is exchanged.



Project Management: Site Selection Process

24

Needs assessment by company.

Qualifying areas/regions identified.

Company makes initial contact with qualified 
states or regions. Information is exchanged.

Specific property/communities identified. 
Company visits. Additional information exchanged.



Project Management: Site Selection Process

25

Needs assessment by company.

Qualifying areas/regions identified.

Company makes initial contact with qualified 
states or regions. Information is exchanged.

Specific property/communities identified. 
Company visits. Additional information exchanged.

Finalists locations selected (2-3). Negotiations begin.



Project Management: Site Selection Process

26

Needs assessment by company.

Qualifying areas/regions identified.

Company makes initial contact with qualified 
states or regions. Information is exchanged.

Specific property/communities identified. 
Company visits. Additional information exchanged.

Finalists locations selected (2-3). Negotiations begin.

WINNER IDENTIFIED.  



Project Management: Recruited Jobs 2015 - 2020

27



Project Management: Recruited Capital Investment 2015 - 2020

28



 

 
 
 

  

AGENCY PRESENTATION #2 - INCENTIVES 
 
  



House Legislative 
Oversight Committee 

May 27, 2021

1



Key Incentives

2



3

Key Incentives Outline

• STATUTORY INCENTIVES
• SC Tax Structure Advantages
• County Development Tiers
• Types of Statutory Incentives
• Qualifying Businesses
• Job Tax Credits

• DISCRETIONARY INCENTIVES
• What are Discretionary Incentives?
• Economic Development Bond Funding
• SC Coordinating Council for Economic Development

o Port & Agriculture Tax Credits
o Enterprise Program
o Grants
o Cost Benefit Analysis

• LEGISLATIVE AUDIT COUNCIL
• Recommendations from report



Statutory
Incentives 

4



SC Tax Structure Advantages

5

 No state property tax
 No local income tax
 No inventory tax
 No sales tax on manufacturing machinery, 

industrial power or materials for finished products
 No wholesale tax
 No unitary tax on worldwide profits
 Favorable corporate income tax structure



Key Incentives: County Development 2021 Tier Map

6



Key Incentives:  Statutory 

7

Jobs Tax Credits

(Enhanced) Corporate Headquarters Tax Credit

Investment Tax Credit

Research & Development Tax Credit

Sales Tax Exemptions

Property Tax Abatement



Statutory Incentives: Qualifying Businesses

*For purposes of the Job Tax Credits, a qualifying service-related company may NOT be engaged 
in legal, accounting, banking, investment services or retail sales. 8

Corporate office

Distribution

Extraordinary retail establishment

Manufacturing

Professional sports team

Service-related

Technology intensive facility

A retail facility or service-related industry located in a Tier IV 
county may also qualify for the credit.



Statutory Incentives: Job Tax Credit

Jobs Tax Credit (JTC)
A statutory incentive available to new and existing companies 
that create and maintain a certain number of new jobs in the 

state. The credit amount available per new job created is based 
on the county designation where the company is located.

9



Discretionary
Incentives

10



What are discretionary incentives?

11

What They Are:

 Performance based
 Targeted toward real property expenses
 Subject to clawbacks

What They Are Not:

 Arbitrary
 Cash giveaways
 Open-ended
 Exclusive to large companies
 Limited to new companies



12

Discretionary Incentives: 
Economic Development 
Bond Funding



13

Discretionary Incentives:  Economic Development Bond Funding

State GO Economic Development Bonds

 Available via ½ percent of state debt limit for qualifying 
economic development projects

 ED Bond Act enacted in 2002
 Has supported BMW, Vought Aircraft, Boeing and Volvo
 Last used in 2017 for Volvo expansion
 Received approval in May 2021 of $8 million to offset 

costs of Gallo Winery project mitigation



14

Qualification as Economic Development Project

 $400 million and 400 jobs

 $100 million and 200 jobs 
o Limited to Life Sciences Facilities
o Jobs must have average compensation of at least 

twice state per capita income 

Discretionary Incentives:  Economic Development Bond Funding



15

Approval Process
 Secretary certifies project qualifies
 JBRC authorizes
 SFAA approves

Performance/Clawback
 Bonds not issued unless project moving forward
 Performance agreements required
 Must meet statutory minimums
 Pro rata repayment for underperformance

Discretionary Incentives:  Economic Development Bond Funding



16

Discretionary Incentives: Economic Development Bond Funding 

Source: SC Office of the State Treasurer Annual State Debt Report, 2020 



17

Discretionary Incentives: 
SC Coordinating Council for 

Economic Development 
(CCED)



Discretionary Incentives:  CCED

The Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED) consists of the heads 
or board chairs of 11 state agencies concerned with economic development:

 SC Department of Commerce

 SC Ports Authority

 SC Department of Parks, Recreation 
& Tourism

 SC Department of Agriculture

 SC Technical College System

 SC Research Authority

 SC Department of Employment and 
Workforce

 SC Department of Revenue

 Jobs Economic Development 
Authority

 SC Department of Transportation

 Santee Cooper

18



19

Discretionary Incentives:  Port & Agriculture Credits

Port Volume Increase Tax Credit
 Must have base year of at least 10 twenty-foot equivalent units (TEUs) or 75 net 

tons of non-containerized property
 Must increase by at least 5% in next year
 Applications are submitted the year after increase
 Credit is generally $100 per increased TEU
 Base year is re-set every year
 Credit can be income tax or withholding

Port Transportation Tax Credit
 Based on transportation costs to port
 Company needs to contact port

Agriculture Purchase Credits
 Must have base year of over $100,000 in purchases of agricultural products that 

have been certified as grown in S.C. by the S.C. Dept. of Agriculture  
 Must increase by at least 15% in next year
 Base-year is re-calculated every year after the initial base year



Discretionary Incentives:  Qualifying Businesses

20

Agribusiness operations 

Agricultural packaging

Distribution

Manufacturing 

Processing 

Research and development 

Technology intensive facility

Qualifying service-related facilities 

Warehousing



Discretionary Incentives:  Enterprise Program

21

• The Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED) has 
delegated the authority to approve applications to the Enterprise 
Committee, a committee made up of five members of the CCED. 

• Preliminary information is reviewed by CCED staff.

• If staff determines that the project is consistent with the 
economic development goals of the state and meets qualification 
requirements for the Enterprise Program, a company may submit 
a formal application for eligibility to participate.  



Enterprise Program:  Job Development Credit (JDC)

22

JDC:  A discretionary, performance-based incentive that 
effectively allows qualified companies to use a refund 
of withholding tax liability to reimburse the company 

for eligible capital expenditures. 

The allowable JDC a company is able to retain per net 
new job is based on the county designation.



Enterprise Program:  JDC Requirements and Stipulations 

23

Must be qualifying type of business §12-10-50(A)(1) 
Must provide a benefits package, including health care, to full-time employees at the project §12-10-50(A)(2)
Must enter into a revitalization agreement (RVA) with the Coordinating Council for Economic Development that 

describes a minimum job requirement and minimum capital investment requirement for the project §12-10-50(A)(3)
Must create at least 10 new jobs within 5 years to be eligible to apply §12-10-80(A)(4)
Must meet required minimum job requirement and minimum capital investment requirement before claiming JDCs
 §12-10-80(A)(3)
Must pass a cost/benefit analysis §12-10-50(A)(4)

Statutory Requirements

Must pay at least 50% of premiums for healthcare benefits for employees
Must offer healthcare benefits to dependents 
Must be competitive with other states

Additional Policy Requirements

The company is only eligible to claim JDCs on jobs that pay at or above the per capita income which is
 generally the average hourly wage rate of the county
Absent special circumstances, JDCs will be capped at $3,250 annually per employee

Standard Stipulations



Enterprise Program:  JDC Eligible Expenses

24

Acquiring and improving real property whether constructed or acquired by purchase or by capital 
or operating lease *with at least a five-year term or otherwise.
 Note: Leases are reviewed by the Enterprise Zone Committee on a case-by-case basis.

Improvements to both public and private utility systems including water, sewer, electricity, natural 
gas and telecommunications;

Fixed transportation facilities including highway and rail;

Construction or improvements of real property and fixtures constructed or improved primarily for 
the purpose of complying with local, state or federal environmental laws or regulations; and

Training costs and needed training facilities.

Only qualifying capital investments made within five years after the application has been 
approved (and any similar investments made sixty days prior to approval) can be considered. 

A total list of eligible expenses is included in Section 12-10-80(C)(3), but the most commonly 
approved by the Coordinating Council for Economic Development are as follows:

Must pay at least 50% 
of premiums for healthcare benefits for employees



Enterprise Program:  JDC Illustration

25

Estimated Job Development Credit
Project X

Tier II County

Number of Employees 100
x Estimated Hourly Wage $25.00
x 2000 hours/year $5,000,000
x JDC Rebate (%) 4%
Net JDC $200,000
x County Classification 70%
Annual JDC (as adjusted for annual cap) $140,000
x Maximum Years 10

$1,400,000

Total Value $1,400,000

The following illustration shows the estimated value 
of Job Development Credits (JDCs) for Project X 
based on the following assumptions:

• Project X is a company that meets the eligibility 
requirements for the JDC program;

• Project X is locating in a Tier II County;
• Project X is creating 100 net new jobs;
• All of the jobs pay a wage of $25.00 per hour; 
• Such hourly wage exceeds the average hourly 

wage rate of the county in which Project X 
locates; and

• Project X invests at least $1.4 million in expenses 
that are eligible to be reimbursed with JDCs.

Please note that a company has up to 5 years from 
the date its application is approved to meet the job 
creation and investment requirements, and the 
company cannot begin collecting JDCs until it has 
satisfied both requirements.

Enterprise Program Wage Guidelines

Average Hourly Wage
(or Equivalent)

Maximum Rebate 
(as % of Gross Wages)

$10.53 - $14.02 2%

$14.03 - $17.53 3%

$17.54 - $26.30 4%

$26.31 and greater 5%

**These values are adjusted annually.



Enterprise Program:  JDC Approvals Each Year



Enterprise Program:  Approval Process

27

Approval Process

A company’s application will be processed by the Coordinating Council for Economic Development 
(CCED) staff and presented to the Enterprise Zone Committee at its monthly meetings. 

If an application is approved by the Enterprise Committee: 

• A letter (preliminary Revitalization Agreement) is sent to the company, along with the draft of 
the final Revitalization Agreement (“RVA”). 

• A company official must sign the preliminary RVA letter and return it to the CCED within 30 
days of the approval date. 

• The company must complete the final RVA and return it to the CCED within 12 months of the 
application approval date. 

• The CCED will execute the final RVA and return a copy to the company. 

The RVA will set forth the minimum job requirement and the minimum investment requirement 
and the deadline for satisfying such requirements (the “Cut-off Date”).  



Enterprise Program:  Reporting

28

Approval Process Reporting

 Prior to “Certification” (when a company has met the required jobs and investment) 
and beginning six months after the application approval date and within thirty (30) 
days after each anniversary of the approval date, the company is required to 
provide the Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED) a status report 
including the total number of new jobs filled and maintained by the company at the 
project as of such date and the total investment of the company at the project as of 
such date.

 Once the company has certified and begun collecting, the status reports as 
described above are no longer required, and the company will be required to 
submit quarterly and annual reports in the forms provided by CCED. This annual 
report includes:
• Whether the company claimed any credits for each quarter
• The number of jobs for which the company has claimed credits
• Any additional jobs created, above minimum required, as noted in the 

quarterly report



Enterprise Program:  Certification/Collection

29

Approval 
Process Reporting Certification/

Collection

 Once the company has reached such job and investment requirements (“certified”), the company must provide the following 
to the Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED): 
 A letter certifying to the number of jobs created with healthcare benefits and the investment made 
 Payroll record that includes the following for each employee: 

• First initial and last name of employee 
• Date of hire
• Job title
• Company ID # or last 4 numbers of SS#
• Hourly rate/salary

 Investment documentation can include property tax returns with related schedules and/or invoices with evidence 
of payment 

**Such items must be submitted prior to a company beginning to claim. 

 Once documentation has been submitted, CCED staff will review: 
 Whether the company maintained its required base employment (if applicable)
 Whether the minimum number of jobs and amount of investment were satisfied (these will be listed as the amount certified)
 Total number of actual jobs and amount of investment created by the company 
 Average wages of the new jobs

 Upon satisfactory review of the certification documents, the CCED will notify the company and S.C. Dept. of Revenue
that the company may begin collecting quarterly refunds, beginning with calendar quarter after certification.



Enterprise Program:  Auditing

30

Approval Process Reporting Certification/
Collection Auditing

• Pursuant to Section 12-10-80(A)(11), for every company that claims more than 
$10,000 in JDCs in a calendar year, the SC Dept. of Revenue (SCDOR) is 
required to audit at least once every three years.  

• To assist the SCDOR auditors, the Coordinating Council for Economic 
Development (CCED) staff provides SCDOR a copy of the final RVA for each 
company upon notice of certification for that company.  

• Once an auditor is prepared to schedule an audit, CCED staff will promptly 
provide any additional materials regarding the company to be audited as 
requested by the auditor.  

• Once the audit has been completed, the auditor will notify CCED staff of any 
corrections in jobs or investment, and such corrections will be noted in the SC 
Commerce database.  



Enterprise Program:  Reporting & Performance



32

The 2020 Annual Report of Enterprise Zone Activity includes the 
information below, as recommended by the Legislative Audit Council.

• Added information about projects certified to begin collecting in 
2020 (a company must meet investment and job creation 
requirements before it can begin collecting).

• Reported information about actual job creation and capital 
investment figures in excess of the revitalization minimum 
requirements, for all job development credits.

• Reported actual figures (in annual reports), as well as comparisons 
of those figures with the projected jobs and capital investments 
reported at the beginning of each project.

Performance Above Minimums  139% 127%

Enterprise Program:  Reporting & Performance



33

The 2020 Annual Report of Enterprise Zone Activity includes the information 
below, as recommended by the Legislative Audit Council.

• Added information about projects that have closed because (1) the 
company reached the end of the collection period, (2) the company reached 
the maximum amount of eligible expenses or (3) the company met its jobs 
and investment requirements and was able to claim for a period of time but 
then fell below and opted not to continue to participate in the program.

• Report instances where projects were approved for incentives, but were 
canceled either due to the company withdrawing or failing to meet the 
requirements of the incentives.

• Report the status of projects that have received, or are receiving, 
incentives.

• Added information about projects that have withdrawn from the Enterprise 
Program or were terminated in 2020, either because the project did not 
happen or the project did not meet the investment and job creation 
requirements before the deadline for performance.

Enterprise Program:  Reporting & Performance



34

Discretionary Incentives: 
Grants



Discretionary Grants

35

 Created in 1987

 Assists companies in locating 
or expanding in SC through 
road or site improvements and 
other costs related to business 
location or expansion

 Funding:
• $20 million annual

appropriation 

 Created in 2006 to assist to help 
recruit/retain economic 
development projects

 Funding:
• Direct appropriation from 

General Assembly 
• $21.3 million recurring
• Typically funded at $25 

million annual level

 Created in 1996

 Assists qualified rural area 
counties, providing 
financial assistance for 
infrastructure/other 
activities that enhance 
economic growth and 
development

 Funding:
• Approx. $20 million

Economic Development 
Set-Aside Fund The Closing Fund Rural Infrastructure Fund



Discretionary Grants:  Application

36

Application

• Preliminary information is reviewed by the Coordinating Council 
for Economic Development (CCED) staff.

• If the project is consistent with economic development goals of 
the state and meets established evaluation criteria, the local 
government is invited to submit a formal application for funding.

• The application is processed by CCED staff and presented to the 
CCED at its quarterly meetings.  

• The CCED has the discretion to approve or disapprove all funding 
requests and to negotiate funding terms and amounts.  



Discretionary Grants:  Approval/Agreement



Discretionary Grants:  Reimbursement

38

Application Approval/
Agreement Reimbursement

• The grant program is a reimbursement of approved expenditures. There is an approved project budget, and no funds will 
be released for amounts over the budget unless change orders are submitted and approved prior to the request for 
payment. Reimbursement of engineering costs will be capped at 10% of the total grant award amount. 

• To request payment, the grantee submits the completed payment request form with relevant invoices and proof the 
invoices have been paid. 

• The Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED) staff monitors the grantee’s compliance with grant terms.

• Once approved by CCED staff, a payment request is processed.

• Payment is issued by the State Treasurer’s Office. Generally, the grantee will receive payment within 2-3 weeks of CCED’s 
receipt of the request.

• Once all grant funds have been disbursed or once the project is complete, the grantee notifies the CCED in writing, and a 
closeout packet is sent. 

• Once the closeout package has been received and reviewed, staff may contact the grantee to schedule a site visit.

• If the grantee has complied with all terms of the grant agreement, the grant is officially financially closed. 

• The grant performance terms will remain open until the company has satisfied the requirements within the time period 
allowed or repayment is made. 



Discretionary Grants:  Performance/Reporting

39

• During the Grant Period, the company is required to provide the Coordinating Council for Economic Development (CCED) an annual 
status report (within 30 days of the anniversary of grant application approval date) to provide the total number of new jobs filled and 
maintained and the total investment of the company.

• Once the company meets required job creation and investment, it must notify the CCED and provide supporting documentation. The 
CCED staff sends a reminder the quarter before the end of the Grant Period if the notice has not been received.

• The company is required to provide a signed statement certifying it created the minimum number of jobs and the minimum amount of
investment indicated in the Performance Agreement.

• In addition, the company must provide payroll record that includes the following for each employee:  First initial and last name of 
employee; Date of hire; Job title;  Company ID # or last 4 numbers of SS#; Hourly rate/salary.

• Investment documentation can include property tax returns with related schedules and/or invoices with evidence of payment. 

If the company has not created the minimum number of jobs and the minimum amount of investment indicated in the Performance 
Agreement, the company will be required to repay a pro rata portion of the grant funds disbursed in accordance with the terms of the 
Performance Agreement. 

The CCED staff, with authorization by the CCED, may negotiate the terms of such repayment, subject to approval of the CCED.

Application Approval/
Agreement Reimbursement Performance/

Reporting



Discretionary Grants:  Performance/Reporting

40

• During the Maintenance Period, within thirty (30) days after each anniversary of the 
expiration of the Grant Period, the company provides the Coordinating Council for Economic 
Development (CCED) a report in the form provided by the CCED.

• This report includes the monthly average of new jobs filled and maintained by the company 
at the project during such year, and the monthly average of total investment of the company 
at the project during such year.  

• The company must also provide supporting documentation to show, to the satisfaction of the 
CCED staff, the employment count and investment amount for each month of the year. 

• If the company has not maintained the minimum number of jobs and the minimum amount 
of investment indicated in the Performance Agreement, the company will be required to 
repay a pro rata portion of the grant funds disbursed in accordance with the terms of the 
Performance Agreement.

Application Approval/
Agreement Reimbursement Performance/

Reporting



Discretionary Grants:  Eligible Expenses

41

The eligible, reimbursable expenses with Set-Aside Grant funds are 
set forth in Section 12-28-2910(E) and include:

• Water and sewer projects
• Road or rail construction and improvement projects
• Land acquisition
• Fiber-optic cable
• Relocation of employees to whom the company is paying gross 

wages at least 2 times the lower of the per capita income for either 
the State or the county in which the project is located

• Pollution control equipment
• Environmental testing and related due diligence reports
• Acquiring and improving real property
• Site preparation (defined as surveying, environmental and 

geotechnical study and mitigation, clearing, filling and grading)

Economic Development Set-Aside Program

The Closing Fund was created by proviso, no statute, and there are no listed eligible expenses. However, the Coordinating 
Council for Economic Development uses the guidelines set for the Set-Aside and Rural Infrastructure Funds for guidance.

The eligible, reimbursable expenses with Rural Infrastructure Grant 
funds are set forth in Section 12-10-85(A) and include:

• Training costs and facilities
• Improvements to regionally planned public and private water 

and sewer systems
• Improvements to both public and private electricity, natural gas, 

and telecommunications systems
• Fixed transportation facilities including highway, rail, water and 

air
• Site preparation
• Acquiring or improving real property
• Relocation of employees to whom the company is paying gross 

wages at least 2 times the lower of the per capita income for 
either the state or the county in which the project is located

Rural Infrastructure Fund

The Closing Fund



42

Discretionary Incentives: 
Cost Benefit Analysis



Discretionary Incentives:  Cost Benefit Analysis

43

NOTE
The updated 
cost benefit 

analysis addresses 
6 recommendations 
from the Legislative 

Audit Council.



Discretionary Incentives:  Cost Benefit Analysis

44



Discretionary Incentives:  Cost Benefit Analysis

45



Discretionary Grants:  Cost Benefit Analysis

46



Discretionary Grants:  Cost Benefit Analysis

47



Discretionary Grants:  Grants Awarded Each Year

48

Calendar Year Number of 
Approvals Grants Awarded Projected Jobs Projected Capital 

Investment

2020 79 $  82,860,000 10,202 $  3,338,555,939 

2019 77 $  30,940,000 6,503 $  1,798,766,300 

2018 68 $  28,775,000 9,859 $  1,891,108,676 

2017 80 $  42,615,000 10,828 $  2,774,134,948 

2016 63 $  37,205,000 8,996 $  3,425,923,991 

*Source: CCED Annual Reports of Fund Activity



Discretionary Grants:  Performance

49

*Source:  CCED 2020 Annual Report of Fund Activity. This chart reflects grants that are satisfied.

Performance Above Minimums    116% 101%



Discretionary Grants:  Performance Status of Grants Awarded

50

93,911,272 
49%

72,702,131 
38%

18,442,260 
10%

5,719,756 
3%

Satisfied - Closed

Satisfied - In Maintenance

Closed Satisfied via Combo Jobs, Invest, Repayment

Not Satisfied

Total Grant Funds Awarded, Closed Grants Awarded 
2009-2020

87% of total 
dollar value of 
grants awarded 
satisfied the 
jobs and 
investment 
minimums.

* These charts illustrate the total amount awarded by performance status or the number of grants 
awarded since 2009 where performance agreements were signed and either closed or in maintenance.

165 
60%

66 
24%

26 
9%

19 
7%

Satisfied - Closed

Satisfied - In Maintenance

Closed Satisfied via Combo Jobs, Invest, Repayment

Not Satisfied

Total Grant Awarded, Closed Grants Status 
2009-2020



Discretionary Grants:  Repayments/Clawbacks

51

 Performance agreements require repayment of all grant funds if a 
company: 

• Does not locate in South Carolina. 
• Fails to create any new jobs and make any investment in South 

Carolina. 

 A company is required to repay a portion of the grant funds 
expended if it: 

• Creates jobs and/or makes investment but fails to meet the job 
requirement and/or the investment requirement. 

• Meets, but then fails to maintain, either requirement (if the 
company has a contractual maintenance requirement).

 The portion of grant funds required to be repaid is based upon the 
actual number of jobs created and/or investment made. In addition, 
a pro rata repayment for failure to meet either the job requirement 
or the investment requirement will be calculated, independently, 
with each calculation based on 50% of the grant funds expended. 

For example, if a company receives a 
$100,000 grant and, at the end of its 
performance period, only creates 80% 
of the required jobs and makes 90% of 
the required investment, its 
repayment would be calculated as 
shown in table above.



Discretionary Grants Awarded Since 2009:  
Closed as Satisfied via Combo Jobs, Investment or Repayment

52

Number 
of Grants

Total Grant 
Awarded

Investment 
Requirement 

Actual 
Investment 

Jobs 
Requirement 

Actual 
Jobs 

26 $  18,442,260 $  941,873,060 $  773,109,355 5,529                   2,503                 

% of Requirement 82%                                                       45%

Fiscal Year Clawbacks Received 

2020 $  1,110,780 
2019 $  693,817 
2018 $  863,040 
2017 $  332,000 
2016 $  5,178,062 

Total $  8,177,700 



Discretionary Grants:  Examples of Project Evaluations

53*These are examples of some grants for which the project was evaluated by the CCED, and the performance was 
deemed fulfilled in 2020. The company name, county and exact job and investment numbers have been removed.

During the performance period, the company, located in Tier 1 county, experienced a market 
downturn which led to decrease in employment below the base level at the time the application 
was approved. However, despite the downturn, the company had continued to grow and 
surpassed its investment requirement by 10 times the original commitment. In addition, the 
company was a strong corporate citizen for the county and had supported education in the area 
including donations to local universities.

Example #2

During the performance period, the company experienced substantial delays in construction due 
to unforeseen regulatory issues and was granted a one-year extension for performance. At the end 
of the period, the company had satisfied its investment requirement, but had only met 
approximately 50% of its job creation requirement. At that time, the company indicated it would 
be making an additional investment of $140,000,000, so it was granted another extension. At the 
end of the extended performance period, the company had made the additional investment, 
which brought the project's total investment to $340,000,000. Due to the fact that the company 
nearly doubled its investment, the Coordinating Council for Economic Development agreed to 
waive repayment for the job creation shortage.

Example #1



Discretionary Grants:  Examples of Project Evaluations

54*These are examples of some grants for which the project was evaluated by the CCED, and the performance was 
deemed fulfilled in 2020. The company name, county and exact job and investment numbers have been removed.

The company exceeded job requirement during its performance period and maintained for a year 
before reducing by about 15%. The company never reached its full investment requirement. In 
consideration of the company being located in a Tier IV county and because the company had 
created up to 47 jobs and had maintained at least 38 for three years, the Coordinating Council for 
Economic Development agreed to accept performance and waive repayment. 

Example #4

The company located in a Tier IV county in a building with a lease agreement with option to 
purchase. The building was purchased, and renovated using RIF funds. The company met both the 
investment and job requirements, but failed to maintain the jobs as required. SC Commerce had 
another project interested in the site. The company agreed to terminate the lease, release its 
option to purchase, discharge any outstanding liens or claims and indemnify the state and county 
against any claims occurring on the property in exchange for a waiver of the repayment amount. 
Another company has already located in this building, has hired over 100 employees and continues 
to grow.

Example #3



Discretionary Grants Awarded Since 2009:  Not Satisfied

55

Number of Grants Total Grant 
Awarded

Investment 
Requirement 

Jobs 
Requirement 

19                                          $  5,719,756 $  192,429,150 3,335 

Grant Awarded Total Grant 
Awarded Number of Grants

2009 $  1,050,000 2
2010 $  1,879,476 6
2011 $      350,000 3
2012 $  2,055,322 5
2014 $     337,208 2
2016 $        47,750 1

County Total Grant 
Awarded

Number of 
Grants Current Tier % of Amt % of 

Grants

Fairfield County $    320,273 1 Tier IV

Orangeburg County $       50,000 1 Tier IV

Williamsburg County $    750,000 1 Tier IV

Barnwell County $    350,000 3 Tier IV

Marion County $  3,172,711 5 Tier IV 81% 58%

Hampton County $    165,108 1 Tier III 3% 5%

Florence County $    263,500 1 Tier II

Lancaster County $    100,000 1 Tier II

Saluda County $       47,750 1 Tier II 7% 16%

Greenville County $     176,714 1 Tier I

York County $     250,000 1 Tier I
Dorchester County $       73,700 2 Tier I 9% 21%



Legislative Audit 
Council (LAC)

56



57

 Of the 39 recommendations:
o 21 have been implemented
o 2 – outside Commerce’s control (requires 

legislative action or additional funding)
o 5 – Commerce was already addressing; no 

action is necessary
o 7 – Commerce does not agree with 

implementing (not practical, necessary or 
potentially encroaches on 
recruitment/business information)

o 4 – under evaluation to determine 
feasibility

 Additional steps taken (ex. InformSC website)

LAC:  Recommendations 



 

 
 

COMMITTEE CONTACT INFORMATION AND UPCOMING MEETINGS 
 
  



 

 
 

 
  

 
UPCOMING MEETINGS 

 
 

Economic Development, 
Transportation, and 
Natural Resources 

Subcommittee 

 
Friday, June 4 

Room 110 
10:00 a.m. 

 
Tuesday, June 29 

Room 110 
10:00 a.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

END NOTES 
1 Visual Summary Figure 2 is compiled from information in the Department of Commerce study materials available online under 
“Citizens’ Interest,” under “House Legislative Oversight Committee Postings and Reports,” and then under “Commerce, 
Department of” 
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Commerce.p
hp (accessed February 25, 2021).  

                                                 

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Commerce.php
http://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/HouseLegislativeOversightCommittee/AgencyPHPFiles/Commerce.php

	Agenda
	Meeting Minutes
	Study Timeline
	Figure 1. Key dates in the study process.

	Agency Snapshot
	Figure 2. Snapshot of the agency’s major organizational units, fiscal year 2019-20 resources (employees and funding), successes, and challenges.0F

	Agency Presentation #1 – Marketing the State and Project Management
	Agency Presentation #2 - Incentives
	Committee Contact Information and Upcoming Meetings
	End Notes



